

Building Intelligent Systems

A Guide to Machine Learning Engineering

Geoff Hulten

Building Intelligent Systems: A Guide to Machine Learning Engineering

Geoff Hulten Lynnwood, Washington, USA

ISBN-13 (pbk): 978-1-4842-3431-0 ISBN-13 (electronic): 978-1-4842-3432-7

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4842-3432-7

Library of Congress Control Number: 2018934680

Copyright © 2018 by Geoff Hulten

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

Trademarked names, logos, and images may appear in this book. Rather than use a trademark symbol with every occurrence of a trademarked name, logo, or image we use the names, logos, and images only in an editorial fashion and to the benefit of the trademark owner, with no intention of infringement of the trademark.

The use in this publication of trade names, trademarks, service marks, and similar terms, even if they are not identified as such, is not to be taken as an expression of opinion as to whether or not they are subject to proprietary rights.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Managing Director, Apress Media LLC: Welmoed Spahr

Acquisitions Editor: Susan McDermott Development Editor: Laura Berendson Coordinating Editor: Rita Fernando

Cover designed by eStudioCalamar

Cover image designed by Freepik (www.freepik.com)

Distributed to the book trade worldwide by Springer Science+Business Media New York, 233 Spring Street, 6th Floor, New York, NY 10013. Phone 1-800-SPRINGER, fax (201) 348-4505, e-mail orders-ny@springer-sbm.com, or visit www.springeronline.com. Apress Media, LLC is a California LLC and the sole member (owner) is Springer Science + Business Media Finance Inc (SSBM Finance Inc). SSBM Finance Inc is a **Delaware** corporation.

For information on translations, please e-mail rights@apress.com, or visit http://www.apress.com/rights-permissions.

Apress titles may be purchased in bulk for academic, corporate, or promotional use. eBook versions and licenses are also available for most titles. For more information, reference our Print and eBook Bulk Sales web page at http://www.apress.com/bulk-sales.

Any source code or other supplementary material referenced by the author in this book is available to readers on GitHub via the book's product page, located at www.apress.com/9781484234310. For more detailed information, please visit http://www.apress.com/source-code.

Printed on acid-free paper

Table of Contents

About the Author	xvi
About the Technical Reviewer	xix
Acknowledgments	
Introduction	xxiii
Part I: Approaching an Intelligent Systems Project	1
Chapter 1: Introducing Intelligent Systems	3
Elements of an Intelligent System	4
An Example Intelligent System	6
The Internet Toaster	6
Using Data to Toast	7
Sensors and Heuristic Intelligence	8
Toasting with Machine Learning	10
Making an Intelligent System	11
Summary	12
For Thought	13
Chapter 2: Knowing When to Use Intelligent Systems	15
Types of Problems That Need Intelligent Systems	15
Big Problems	16
Open-Ended Problems	16
Time-Changing Problems	17
Intrinsically Hard Problems	18
Situations When Intelligent Systems Work	18
When a Partial System Is Viable and Interesting	19
When You Can Use Data from the System to Improve	19

	When the System Can Interface with the Objective	. 20
	When it is Cost Effective	. 21
	When You Aren't Sure You Need an Intelligent System	. 22
	Summary	. 23
	For Thought	. 23
C	hapter 3: A Brief Refresher on Working with Data	25
	Structured Data	. 25
	Asking Simple Questions of Data	. 27
	Working with Data Models	. 29
	Conceptual Machine Learning	. 30
	Common Pitfalls of Working with Data	. 31
	Summary	. 33
	For Thought	. 34
C	hapter 4: Defining the Intelligent System's Goals	35
	Criteria for a Good Goal	. 36
	An Example of Why Choosing Goals Is Hard	. 36
	Types of Goals	. 38
	Organizational Objectives	. 38
	Leading Indicators	. 39
	User Outcomes	. 41
	Model Properties	. 42
	Layering Goals	. 43
	Ways to Measure Goals	. 44
	Waiting for More Information	. 44
	A/B Testing	
	Hand Labeling	. 45
	Asking Users	. 46
	Decoupling Goals	46

Keeping Goals Healthy	47
Summary	48
For Thought	48
Part II: Intelligent Experiences	51
Chapter 5: The Components of Intelligent Experiences	53
Presenting Intelligence to Users	54
An Example of Presenting Intelligence	55
Achieve the System's Objectives	57
An Example of Achieving Objectives	58
Minimize Intelligence Flaws	58
Create Data to Grow the System	59
An Example of Collecting Data	60
Summary	61
For Thought	62
Chapter 6: Why Creating Intelligent Experiences Is Hai	rd 63
Intelligence Make Mistakes	63
Intelligence Makes Crazy Mistakes	65
Intelligence Makes Different Types of Mistakes	66
Intelligence Changes	68
The Human Factor	70
Summary	72
For Thought	72
Chapter 7: Balancing Intelligent Experiences	75
Forcefulness	76
Frequency	7 8
Value of Success	79
Cost of Mistakes	81
Knowing There Is a Mistake	81
Recovering from a Mistake	82

Intelligence Quality	83
Summary	85
For Thought	86
Chapter 8: Modes of Intelligent Interaction	87
Automate	87
Prompt	89
Organize	90
Annotate	92
Hybrid Experiences	93
Summary	
For Thought	95
Chapter 9: Getting Data from Experience	97
An Example: TeamMaker	
Simple Interactions	
Making It Fun	99
Connecting to Outcomes	100
Properties of Good Data	100
Context, Actions, and Outcomes	101
Good Coverage	102
Real Usage	103
Unbiased	103
Does Not Contain Feedback Loops	104
Scale	
Ways to Understand Outcomes	
Implicit Outcomes	
Ratings	
Reports	
Escalations	
User Classifications	
Summary	109
For Thought	110
viii	

Chapter 10: Verifying Intelligent Experiences	111
Getting Intended Experiences	112
Working with Context	112
Working with Intelligence	114
Bringing it Together	115
Achieving Goals	116
Continual Verification	117
Summary	117
For Thought	118
Part III: Implementing Intelligence	121
Chapter 11: The Components of an Intelligence Implementation	123
An Example of Intelligence Implementation	124
Components of an Intelligence Implementation	127
The Intelligence Runtime	127
Intelligence Management	127
Intelligence Telemetry Pipeline	128
The Intelligence Creation Environment	
Intelligence Orchestration	129
Summary	130
For Thought	130
Chapter 12: The Intelligence Runtime	133
Context	134
Feature Extraction	135
Models	137
Execution	138
Results	139
Instability in Intelligence	139
Intelligence APIs	140
Summary	140
For Thought	141

Chapter 13: Where Intelligence Lives	143
Considerations for Positioning Intelligence	143
Latency in Updating	144
Latency in Execution	146
Cost of Operation	148
Offline Operation	149
Places to Put Intelligence	150
Static Intelligence in the Product	150
Client-Side Intelligence	151
Server-Centric Intelligence	152
Back-End (Cached) Intelligence	153
Hybrid Intelligence	154
Summary	155
For Thought	156
Chapter 14: Intelligence Management	157
Overview of Intelligence Management	157
Complexity in Intelligent Management	158
Frequency in Intelligence Management	159
Human Systems	159
Sanity-Checking Intelligence	160
Checking for Compatibility	160
Checking for Runtime Constraints	161
Checking for Obvious Mistakes	162
Lighting Up Intelligence	162
Single Deployment	163
Silent Intelligence	164
Controlled Rollout	165
Flighting	166
Turning Off Intelligence	167
Summary	168
For Thought	

Chapter 15: Intelligent Telemetry	171
Why Telemetry Is Needed	171
Make Sure Things Are Working	172
Understand Outcomes	173
Gather Data to Grow Intelligence	174
Properties of an Effective Telemetry System	175
Sampling	175
Summarizing	176
Flexible Targeting	177
Common Challenges	178
Bias	178
Rare Events	179
Indirect Value	180
Privacy	180
Summary	181
For Thought	182
Part IV: Creating Intelligence	183
Chapter 16: Overview of Intelligence	185
An Example Intelligence	185
Contexts	187
Implemented at Runtime	187
Available for Intelligence Creation	189
Things Intelligence Can Predict	190
Classifications	
Probability Estimates	191
Regressions	193
Rankings	194
Hybrids and Combinations	194
Summary	194
For Thought	

Chapter 17: Representing Intelligence	197
Criteria for Representing Intelligence	197
Representing Intelligence with Code	198
Representing Intelligence with Lookup Tables	199
Representing Intelligence with Models	201
Linear Models	202
Decision Trees	203
Neural Networks	205
Summary	207
For Thought	207
Chapter 18: The Intelligence Creation Process	209
An Example of Intelligence Creation: Blinker	210
Understanding the Environment	210
Define Success	212
Get Data	213
Bootstrap Data	214
Data from Usage	215
Get Ready to Evaluate	216
Simple Heuristics	217
Machine Learning	218
Understanding the Tradeoffs	219
Assess and Iterate	219
Maturity in Intelligence Creation	220
Being Excellent at Intelligence Creation	221
Data Debugging	
Verification-Based Approach	222
Intuition with the Toolbox	222
Math (?)	223
Summary	223
For Thought	224

Chapter 19: Evaluating Intelligence	225
Evaluating Accuracy	226
Generalization	226
Types of Mistakes	227
Distribution of Mistakes	230
Evaluating Other Types of Predictions	230
Evaluating Regressions	230
Evaluating Probabilities	231
Evaluating Rankings	231
Using Data for Evaluation	232
Independent Evaluation Data	232
Independence in Practice	233
Evaluating for Sub-Populations	235
The Right Amount of Data	237
Comparing Intelligences	238
Operating Points	238
Curves	239
Subjective Evaluations	240
Exploring the Mistakes	241
Imagining the User Experience	242
Finding the Worst Thing	242
Summary	243
For Thought	244
Chapter 20: Machine Learning Intelligence	245
How Machine Learning Works	
The Pros and Cons of Complexity	247
Underfitting	
Overfitting	249
Balancing Complexity	
Feature Engineering	
Converting Data to Useable Format	

xiii

Helping your Model Use the Data	253
Normalizing	254
Exposing Hidden Information	255
Expanding the Context	256
Eliminating Misleading Things	256
Modeling	257
Complexity Parameters	258
Identifying Overfitting	259
Summary	260
For Thought	261
Chapter 21: Organizing Intelligence	263
Reasons to Organize Intelligence	
Properties of a Well-Organized Intelligence	
Ways to Organize Intelligence	
Decouple Feature Engineering	
Multiple Model Searches	
Chase Mistakes	
Meta-Models	270
Model Sequencing	272
Partition Contexts	274
Overrides	275
Summary	277
For Thought	
Part V: Orchestrating Intelligent Systems	270
Chapter 22: Overview of Intelligence Orchestration	
Properties of a Well-Orchestrated Intelligence	282
Why Orchestration Is Needed	282
Objective Changes	283
Users Change	284
Problem Changes	285

	Intelligence Changes	286
	Costs Change	287
	Abuse	287
	The Orchestration Team	288
	Summary	288
	For Thought	289
C	Chapter 23: The Intelligence Orchestration Environment	291
	Monitor the Success Criteria	292
	Inspect Interactions	293
	Balance the Experience	
	Override Intelligence	296
	Create Intelligence	298
	Summary	299
	For Thought	300
C	Chapter 24: Dealing with Mistakes	301
	The Worst Thing That Could Happen	
		301
	The Worst Thing That Could Happen	301 303
	The Worst Thing That Could Happen	301 303 303
	The Worst Thing That Could Happen Ways Intelligence Can Break System Outage	301 303 303
	The Worst Thing That Could Happen Ways Intelligence Can Break System Outage Model Outage	301 303 304 304
	The Worst Thing That Could Happen Ways Intelligence Can Break System Outage Model Outage Intelligence Errors	
	The Worst Thing That Could Happen Ways Intelligence Can Break. System Outage Model Outage Intelligence Errors Intelligence Degradation	
	The Worst Thing That Could Happen Ways Intelligence Can Break System Outage Model Outage Intelligence Errors Intelligence Degradation Mitigating Mistakes	
	The Worst Thing That Could Happen Ways Intelligence Can Break. System Outage. Model Outage. Intelligence Errors. Intelligence Degradation. Mitigating Mistakes. Invest in Intelligence	
	The Worst Thing That Could Happen Ways Intelligence Can Break System Outage Model Outage Intelligence Errors Intelligence Degradation Mitigating Mistakes Invest in Intelligence Balance the Experience	
	The Worst Thing That Could Happen Ways Intelligence Can Break	
	The Worst Thing That Could Happen Ways Intelligence Can Break. System Outage Model Outage Intelligence Errors Intelligence Degradation Mitigating Mistakes Invest in Intelligence Balance the Experience Adjust Intelligence Management Parameters Implement Guardrails	

Chapter 25: Adversaries and Abuse	311
Abuse Is a Business	312
Abuse Scales	313
Estimating Your Risk	313
What an Abuse Problem Looks Like	314
Ways to Combat Abuse	315
Add Costs	315
Becoming Less Interesting to Abusers	315
Machine Learning with an Adversary	316
Get the Abuser out of the Loop	316
Summary	316
For Thought	317
Chapter 26: Approaching Your Own Intelligent System	319
An Intelligent System Checklist	319
Approach the Intelligent System Project	320
Plan for the Intelligent Experience	321
Plan the Intelligent System Implementation	323
Get Ready to Create Intelligence	325
Orchestrate Your Intelligent System	327
Summary	329
For Thought	329
Index	331

About the Author



Geoff Hulten is a machine learning scientist and PhD in machine learning. He has managed applied machine learning teams for over a decade, building dozens of Internet-scale Intelligent Systems that have hundreds of millions of interactions with users every day. His research has appeared in top international conferences, received thousands of citations, and won a SIGKDD Test of Time award for influential contributions to the data mining research community that have stood the test of time.

About the Technical Reviewer



Jeb Haber has a BS in Computer Science from Willamette University. He spent nearly two decades at Microsoft working on a variety of projects across Windows, Internet Explorer, Office, and MSN. For the last decade-plus of his Microsoft career, Jeb led the program management team responsible for the safety and security services provided by Microsoft SmartScreen (anti-phishing, anti-malware, and so on.) Jeb's team developed and managed global-scale Intelligent Systems with hundreds of millions of users. His role included product vision/planning/strategy, project management, metrics definition and people/team development. Jeb

helped organize a culture along with the systems and processes required to repeatedly build and run global scale, 24×7 intelligence and reputation systems. Jeb is currently serving as the president of two non-profit boards for organizations dedicated to individuals and families dealing with the rare genetic disorder phenylketonuria (PKU).

Acknowledgments

There are so many people who were part of the Intelligent Systems I worked on over the years. These people helped me learn, helped me understand. In particular, I'd like to thank:

Jeb Haber and John Scarrow for being two of the key minds in developing the concepts described in this book and for being great collaborators over the years. None of this would have happened without their leadership and dedication.

Also: Anthony P., Tomasz K., Rob S., Rob M., Dave D., Kyle K., Eric R., Ameya B., Kris I., Jeff M., Mike C., Shankar S., Robert R., Chris J., Susan H., Ivan O., Chad M. and many others...

Introduction

Building Intelligent Systems is a book about leveraging machine learning in practice.

It covers everything you need to produce a fully functioning Intelligent System, one that leverages machine learning and data from user interactions to improve over time and achieve success.

After reading this book you'll be able to design an Intelligent System end-to-end. You'll know:

- When to use an Intelligent System and how to make it achieve your goals.
- How to design effective interactions between users and Intelligent Systems.
- How to implement an Intelligent System across client, service, and back end.
- How to build the intelligence that powers an Intelligent System and grow it over time.
- How to orchestrate an Intelligent System over its life-cycle.

You'll also understand how to apply your existing skills, whether in software engineering, data science, machine learning, management or program management to the effort.

There are many great books that teach data and machine-learning skills. Those books are similar to books on programming languages; they teach valuable skills in great detail. This book is more like a book on software engineering; it teaches how to take those base skills and produce working systems.

This book is based on more than a decade of experience building Internet-scale Intelligent Systems that have hundreds of millions of user interactions per day in some of the largest and most important software systems in the world. I hope this book helps accelerate the proliferation of systems that turn data into impact and helps readers develop practical skills in this important area.

Who This Book Is For

This book is for anyone with a computer science degree who wants to understand what it takes to build effective Intelligent Systems.

Imagine a typical software engineer who is assigned to a machine learning project. They want to learn more about it so they pick up a book, and it is technical, full of statistics and math and modeling methods. These are important skills, but they are the wrong information to help the software engineer contribute to the effort. *Building Intelligent Systems* is the right book for them.

Imagine a machine learning practitioner who needs to understand how the endto-end system will interact with the models they produce, what they can count on, and what they need to look out for in practice. *Building Intelligent Systems* is the right book for them.

Imagine a technical manager who wants to begin benefiting from machine learning. Maybe they hire a machine learning PhD and let them work for a while. The machine learning practitioner comes back with charts, precision/recall curves, and training data requests, but no framework for how they should be applied. *Building Intelligent Systems* is the right book for that manager.

Data and Machine Learning Practitioners

Data and machine learning are at the core of many Intelligent Systems, but there is an incredible amount of work to be done between the development of a working model (created with machine learning) and the eventual sustainable customer impact.

Understanding this supporting work will help you be better at modeling in a number of ways.

First, it's important to **understand the constraints** these systems put on your modeling. For example, where will the model run? What data will it have access to? How fast does it need to be? What is the business impact of a false positive? A false negative? How should the model be tuned to maximize business results?

Second, it's important to be able to **influence the other participants**. Understanding the pressures on the engineers and business owners will help you come to good solutions and maximize your chance for success. For example, you may not be getting all the training data you'd like because of telemetry sampling. Should you double down on

modeling around the problem, or would an engineering solution make more sense? Or maybe you are being pushed to optimize for a difficult extremely-high precision, when your models are already performing at a very good (but slightly lower) precision. Should you keep chasing that super-high precision or should you work to influence the user experience in ways that reduce the customer impact of mistakes?

Third, it's important to understand how the **supporting systems can benefit you**. The escalation paths, the manual over-rides, the telemetry, the guardrails that prevent against major mistakes—these are all tools you can leverage. You need to understand when to use them and how to integrate them with your modeling process. Should you discard a model that works acceptably for 99% of users but really, really badly for 1% of users? Or maybe you can count on other parts of the system to address the problem.

Software Engineers

Building software that delights customers is a lot of work. No way around it, behind every successful software product and service there is some serious engineering. Intelligent Systems have some unique properties which present interesting challenges. This book describes the associated concepts so you can design and build Intelligent Systems that are efficient, reliable, and that best-unlock the power of machine learning and data science.

First, this book will identify the **entities and abstractions** that need to exist within a successful Intelligent System. You will learn the concepts behind the intelligence runtime, context and features, models, telemetry, training data, intelligence management, orchestration, and more.

Second, the book will give you a **conceptual understanding of machine learning and data sciences**. These will prepare you to have good discussions about tradeoffs between engineering investments and modeling investments. Where can a little bit of your work really enable a solution? And where are you being asked to boil the ocean to save a little bit of modeling time?

Third, the book will explore **patterns for Intelligent Systems** that my colleagues and I have developed over a decade and through implementing many working systems. What are the pros and cons or running intelligence in a client or in a service? How do you bound and verify components that are probabilistic? What do you need to include in telemetry so the system can evolve?

Program Managers

Machine learning and Data Sciences are hot topics. They are fantastic tools, but they are tools; they are not solutions. This book will give you enough conceptual understanding so you know what these tools are good at and how to deploy them to solve your business problems.

The first thing you'll learn is to develop an **intuition for when machine learning** and data science are appropriate. There is nothing worse than trying to hammer a square peg into a round hole. You need to understand what types of problems can be solved by machine learning. But just as importantly, you need to understand what types of problems can't be—or at least not easily. There are so many participants in a successful endeavor, and they speak such different, highly-technical, languages, that this is particularly difficult. This book will help you understand enough so you can ask the right questions and understand what you need from the answers.

The second is to get an intuition on return on investment so you can determine how much Intelligent System to use. By understanding the real costs of building and maintaining a system that turns data into impact you can make better choices about when to do it. You can also go into it with open eyes, and have the investment level scoped for success. Sometimes you need all the elements described in this book, but sometimes the right choice for your business is something simpler. This book will help you make good decisions and communicate them with confidence and credibility.

Finally, the third thing a program manager will learn here is to understand how to **plan, staff, and manage an Intelligent System project**. You will get the benefit of our experience building many large-scale Intelligent Systems: the life cycle of an Intelligent System; the day-to-day process of running it; the team and skills you need to succeed.

PART I

Approaching an Intelligent Systems Project

Chapters 1-4 set the groundwork for a successful Intelligent Systems project. This part describes what Intelligent Systems are and what they are good for. It refreshes some important background. It explains how to ensure that an Intelligent System has a useful, achievable goal. And it gives an overview of what to expect when taking on an Intelligent Systems project.

Introducing Intelligent Systems

Intelligent Systems are all around us. In our light bulbs. In our cars. In our watches. In our thermostats. In our computers. How do we make them do the things that make our lives better? That delight us?

When should a light bulb turn on? When should an e-commerce site show us a particular product? When should a search engine take us to a particular site? When should a speaker play some music?

Answering questions like these, and answering them extremely well, is fundamental to unlocking the value of Intelligent Systems. And it is really hard.

Some of the biggest, most valuable companies in the world have their core business built around answering simple questions, like these:

- What web page should I display based on a short query?
- What ad should I present in a particular context?
- What product should I show to this shopper?
- What movie would this user enjoy right now?
- What book would this person like to read?
- Which news stories will generate the most interest?
- Which programs should I block from running to keep a machine safe?

Answering each of these questions "well enough" has made companies worth billions—in a few cases hundreds of billions—of dollars. And it has done so by making lots of people smarter, more productive, happier, and safer. But this is just the tip of the iceberg.

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCING INTELLIGENT SYSTEMS

There are tens of thousands of similar questions we could try to answer: When should my front door unlock? What exercise should a fitness app suggest next? What type of song should an artist write next? How should a game evolve to maximize player engagement?

This book is about reliably and efficiently unlocking the potential of Intelligent Systems.

Elements of an Intelligent System

Intelligent Systems connect users to artificial intelligence (machine learning) to achieve meaningful objectives. An Intelligent System is one in which the intelligence evolves and improves over time, particularly when the intelligence improves by watching how users interact with the system.

Successful Intelligent Systems have all of the following:

- A meaningful objective. An Intelligent System must have a reason for being, one that is meaningful to users and accomplishes your goals, and one that is achievable by the Intelligent System you will be able to build and run. Selecting an objective is a critical part of achieving success, but it isn't easy to do. The first part of this book will help you understand what Intelligent Systems do, so you'll know when you should use one and what kinds of objectives you should set for it.
- The intelligent experience. An intelligent experience must take
 the output of the system's intelligence (such as the predictions its
 machine learning makes) and present it to users to achieve the
 desired outcomes.

To do this it must have a user interface that adapts based on the predictions and that puts the intelligence in a position to shine when it is right—while minimizing the cost of mistakes it makes when it is wrong. The intelligent experience must also elicit both implicit and explicit feedback from users to help the system improve its intelligence over time. The second part of this book will explore intelligent experiences, the options and the pitfalls for connecting users with intelligence.

- The implementation of the intelligence. The Intelligent System implementation includes everything it takes to execute intelligence, to move the intelligence where it needs to be, to manage it, to light up the intelligent experiences based on it, to collect telemetry to verify the system is functioning, and to gather the user feedback that will improve the intelligence over time. The third part of this book describes all the components of an intelligence implementation. It will prepare you to design and implement an Intelligent System of your own.
- Intelligence creation. Intelligent Systems are about setting intelligence up for success. This intelligence can come from many different places, ranging from simple heuristics to complex machine learning. Intelligence must be organized so that the right types of intelligence address the right parts of the problem, and so it can be effectively created by a team of people over an extended time. The fourth part of this book discusses the act of creating and growing intelligence for Internet-scale Intelligent Systems. It will prepare you to leverage all available approaches and achieve success.
- The orchestration. An Intelligent System lives over time, and all its elements must be kept in balance to achieve its objectives. This orchestration includes controlling how the system changes, keeping the experience in sync with the quality of the intelligence, deciding what telemetry to gather to track down and eliminate problems, and how much money to spend building and deploying new intelligence. It also involves dealing with mistakes, controlling risk, and defusing abuse. The fifth part of this book explains everything it takes to orchestrate an Intelligent System and achieve its goals through all phases of its life-cycle.

An Intelligent System is one way to apply machine learning in practice. An Intelligent System takes *intelligence* (produced via machine learning and other approaches) and leverages and supports it to achieve your objectives and to improve over time.

An Example Intelligent System

Intelligent Systems might be used to implement search engines, e-commerce sites, self-driving cars, and computer vision systems that track the human body and know who a person is and when they are smiling. But these are big and complicated systems.

Let's look at a much simpler example to see how a solution might evolve from a traditional system into an Intelligent System.

The Internet Toaster

Let's consider an Internet-connected smart-toaster. A good idea? Maybe, maybe not. But let's consider it. Our toaster has two controls: a slider that controls the intensity of the toasting and a lever that starts the toast.

It seems simple enough. The toaster's intelligence simply needs to map settings of the intensity slider to toast times. At a low setting, the toaster runs for, say, 30 seconds. At high settings the toaster runs for two minutes. That kind of thing.

So sit down, think for a while, come up with some toast-time settings and send the toaster to customers. What could go wrong?

Well, if you choose a maximum intensity that toasts for too long it could burn the things it toasts. Most customers who use that setting will be unhappy, throw away their cinder-toast, and start again.

You can imagine other failure cases, all the little irritations of toast-making that result in customers standing over their toasters, hands on the levers, ready to cut the toast short. Or customers repeatedly toasting the same piece of bread, a bit at a time, to get it the way they like it.

That's not good. If we are going to build a toaster, we want to build a really good one.

So maybe we do some testing, tweaking the toaster until both the high and low settings make toast that we think is desirable. Not too crispy, not too cool.

Great.

Did we get it right? Will this toaster do what our customers want?

It's hard to know. No matter how much toast we've eaten in our lives, it's really impossible to prove we've gotten the settings right for all the types of toast all our customers might want to make.

And so we realize we need to incorporate the opinions and experiences of others into our toaster-building process. But how?

Maybe we start with a focus group. Bring in dozens of members of the toast-making public, put them in a toasting lab, and take notes as they toast.

Then we tweak the toast-time settings again to reflect the way these volunteers toast. Now do we have the perfect toaster? Will this focus-group-tuned toaster make all the right toast that hundreds of thousands of people all around the world will want?

What if someone puts something frozen into the toaster? Or something from the fridge? Or what if someone has a tradition of making toaster s'mores? Or what if someone invents a new toaster-product, unlike anything humanity has ever toasted before? Is our toaster right for all of these situations? Probably not.

Using Data to Toast

So maybe making a perfect toasting machine is a bit harder than just asking a few people what they like.

There are just too many use cases to optimize by hand if we want to get the perfect toast in every conceivable situation. We could run focus groups every day for the rest of our lives and we still wouldn't see all the types of toast a toaster might make.

We need to do better. It's time for some serious data science.

The toaster is Internet connected, so we can program it to send telemetry back to our service. Every time someone toasts something we can know what setting they used and how long the toasting went before it stopped.

We ship version 1 of the toaster (perhaps to a controlled set of users), and the toast telemetry starts flooding in to our servers.

Now we know exactly which intensity settings people are using in their real lives (not in some contrived lab setting). We know how many times people push the lever down to start a toast job and how many times they pop the lever up to stop one early.

Can we use this data to make a better toaster?

Of course!

We could set the maximum intensity to something that at least a few users are actually using. Then we could set up metrics to make sure we don't have the toaster biased to over-toasting. For example, we could monitor the percentage of toasts that are early-stopped by their user (presumably because they were about to burn something) and tweak and tweak till we get those under control.

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCING INTELLIGENT SYSTEMS

We could set the minimum intensity to something reasonable too. Something that users seem to use. We could track the double-toast rate (where someone toasts something and immediately re-toasts it) and tweak to make sure the toaster isn't biased to under-toasting.

Heck, we can even set the default intensity, the one in the middle of the range, to the most commonly used toast time.

Since our toasters are Internet-connected, we can update them with the new settings by having them pull the data from our servers. Heck, we could tweak the toaster's settings every single day, twice on Sunday—this is the age of miracles and wonders!

There are some seams with this approach, some things we had to assume. For example, we had to assume that toasting multiple times in quick succession is a sign of failure, that the customer is re-toasting the same bread instead of making several pieces of toast rapid-fire.

We had to assume that an early-stop is a sign the bread was starting to burn and not a sign that the customer was late for work and rushing out the door.

Also when we deploy the new settings to toasters, how do we ensure that users are going to like them? We are pretty sure (based on data science) that the new settings better-match what our overall user population is doing, so that's good.

But what about the user who was getting their own brand of perfectly toasted bagel yesterday and today they get... something different?

Despite these problems, we've got a pretty decent toaster. We've got telemetry to know the toaster is roughly doing its job. We've got a way to service it and improve it over time. Now let's really blow the doors off this thing.

Sensors and Heuristic Intelligence

If we want to make the best toaster, we're going to need more than a single slider and a toast lever. Let's add some sensors:

- A weight sensor to know how much toast is in the toaster and to determine when a customer places something in the toaster and when they take something out of it.
- A temperature sensor to know if the item placed in the toaster is chilled, frozen, or room temperature.
- A location sensor to know what region of the world the toaster is in so
 it can adapt to different tastes in different locales.

- A proximity sensor to know if someone is near the toaster and a camera to identify who it is.
- A clock to know if a toast is a breakfast toast or a dinner one.
- A little memory to know what's been toasted recently and to monitor the pattern of setting changes and toastings.
- A smoke sensor to know when the toaster has made a bad mistake and is about to burn something.

Now when a customer walks up to the toaster and puts something in it, the toaster can look at who the user is, try to guess what they are trying to toast, and automatically suggest a setting.

Heck, if the toaster is good enough there is no longer any need for the intensity setting or the toasting lever at all. We could update the toasting experience to be totally automatic. We could ship toasters with no buttons or knobs or anything. The customer drops something in, walks away, and comes back to delightfully toasted—anything!

If we could just figure out a way to turn all these sensor readings into the correct toast times for... anything.

To do that we need intelligence—the program or rules or machine-learned model that makes these types of decisions.

Let's start simply, by hand-crafting some intelligence.

Let's write a set of rules that consider the sensor readings and output intensity suggestions. For example: If something cold and heavy is put into the toaster, then toast for 5 minutes at high intensity. But for every degree above freezing, reduce the toast time by 2 seconds. But in Britain add 15 seconds to the toast time (because they like it that way). But if the weight and size match a known toaster product (some big brand toaster meal), then toast it the "right amount of time" based on the product's directions.

And that kind of stuff.

Every time a user complains, because the toaster toasted something wrong, you can add a new rule.

Whenever the telemetry shows a spike of double-toastings you can tweak the rules to improve.

Every time you add a new rule or update an old one you can update all the toasters you shipped all around the world by having them download the new settings from your server.

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCING INTELLIGENT SYSTEMS

With this approach, you'll probably need to write and maintain a lot of rules to deal with all the possibilities. It's going to be a lot of work. You could employ a dozen people and give them months of rule-writing-time, and you might not be happy with the outcome.

You might never be.

Toasting with Machine Learning

In situations like this, where there is an optimization problem that is too hard or too expensive to do by hand, people turn to machine learning.

At a high level, machine learning can observe examples of users using their Internet toasters and automatically produce a set of rules to control the toaster just the way users would want it. Kind of like the hand-crafted heuristic ones we just talked about, only machine-crafted.

And machines can make lot more rules than humans can. Machines can balance inputs from dozens of sensors; they can optimize for thousands of different types of users simultaneously. They can incorporate new data and reoptimize everything every day, every hour—sometimes even faster. They can personalize rules to each user.

In order to work, machine learning needs data that shows the situation the user faced (the sensor readings) the action they took (how they set the toaster) and the outcome they got (if they liked the toast or had to tweak something and try again). Machine learning needs examples of when things are going right as well as examples of when things are going wrong. Lots and lots of examples of them.

To find examples of when things are going right, we can look through the telemetry for times when the user put something in the toaster, pressed the start lever, waited to completion, took the item out, and walked away. These are cases where the user probably got what they wanted. We have a record of all the sensor settings, the toasting time. We can use this as training for the machine learning system. Perfect.

And for examples of when things went wrong we can look through the telemetry again. This time we find all the places where users had to fiddle with the toaster, every time they stopped the toaster early or retoasted the same item multiple times. We have records of the sensor readings and intensity settings that gave users bad outcomes, too.

So combining the good outcomes and the bad outcomes and some machine learning, we can automatically train the perfect toaster-controlling algorithm.

Put in data, get out a program that looks at sensor readings and determines the best intensity and time settings to use.

We push this learned program to our customers' toasters.

We can do it every day, every minute.

We can learn from hundreds of thousands of customer interactions—from hundreds of millions of them.

Magic!

Making an Intelligent System

And this is what Intelligent Systems do. Building an effective Intelligent System requires balancing five major components: the objective, the experience, the implementation, the intelligence, and the orchestration.

We need a problem that is suitable to solve with an Intelligent System, and worth the effort. We need to control the toaster based on what the intelligence thinks. We need to do it in a way the user finds helpful, and we also need to give the user the right controls to interact with the toaster and to give feedback we can use to learn. We need to build all the services and tools and code that gathers telemetry, produces intelligence, moves it where it needs to be, and hooks it up with users.

We need to create the intelligence every day, over and over, in a way that is predictable. And we need to keep everything running over time as new toastable products come into the market and tastes change.

We need to decide how much telemetry we should collect to trade off operational costs with the potential value. We need to decide how much to change the intelligence on any particular day so that the toaster improves, but without confusing or upsetting users.

We need to monitor our key metrics and react if they start to degrade. Maybe tune the experience? Maybe call an emergency intelligence intervention? And we need to deal with mistakes. And mistakes happen.

Intelligence (particularly machine-learned intelligence) can make bad mistakes—spectacular, counter-intuitive, highly customer-damaging mistakes.

For example, our toaster might learn that people in a specific zip code love cinder-toast. No matter what you put into the thing, if you live in that zip code—cinder. So we need ways to identify and manage these mistakes. We need ways to place guardrails on machine learning.

And unfortunately... people are people. Any time we use human feedback to optimize something—like using machine learning to build a toaster—we have to think about all the ways a human might benefit from things going wrong.

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCING INTELLIGENT SYSTEMS

Imagine a major bread-maker paying a sweatshop of people to toast their competitor's products using crazy settings. They could carry out millions of toasts per week, flooding our telemetry system with misleading data. Our machine learning might pick up on this and "learn" what this toast-hacker is trying to teach it—our toaster might start regularly undercooking the competitor's product, leading to food safety issues.

Not good.

A successful Intelligent System will have to consider all of these issues and more.

Summary

This chapter introduced Intelligent Systems along with five key conceptual challenges that every Intelligent System must address—the objective, the experience, the implementation, the intelligence, and the orchestration.

It should now be clear that there are many ways to approach these challenges and that they are highly interrelated. To have a successful Intelligent System you must balance them. If one of the conceptual challenges is difficult in your context, the others will need to work harder to make up for it.

For example, if you are trying to retrofit an Intelligent System into an existing system where the experience has already been defined (and can't be changed), the Intelligent System might need to accept a less aggressive objective, to invest more in intelligence, or to have a fuller mistake-mitigation strategy.

But here's another way to look at it: there are a lot of ways to succeed.

Deploy an Intelligent System and discover that the intelligence problem is harder than you thought? No need to panic. There are lots of ways to compensate and make a system that delights customers and helps your business while the intelligence takes time to grow.

The rest of this book will give you the tools to approach Intelligent Systems projects with confidence.

For Thought...

After reading this chapter you should be able to:

- Identify Intelligent Systems in the world around you.
- See the potential that Intelligent Systems can unlock.
- Understand the difference between intelligence (which makes predictions about the world) and an Intelligent System (which combines objective, experience, implementation, intelligence, and orchestration to achieve results).
- Articulate all the conceptually hard things you will need to address to build a successful Intelligent System.
- Understand how these difficult things interact, including some of the tradeoffs and ways they can support one another.

You should be able to answer questions like these:

- What services do you use that (you suspect) are built by turning customer data into intelligence?
- What is the most magical experience you've had with one of these services?
- What is the worst experience you've had?
- Can you identify how the user experience supports the intelligence?
- Can you find any information on how its intelligence is produced?
 Maybe in a news story or publication?
- Can you determine any of the ways it detects and mitigates intelligence mistakes?

Knowing When to Use Intelligent Systems

So you have a problem you want to solve. An existing system you need to optimize. A new idea to create a business. Something you think your customers will love. A machine-learning-based solution that isn't producing the value you'd hoped. Is an Intelligent System right for you? Sometimes yes. Sometimes no.

This chapter discusses when Intelligent Systems might be the right approach, and provides guidance on when other approaches might be better. It begins by describing the types of problems that can benefit from Intelligent Systems. It then discusses some of the properties required to make Intelligent Systems work.

Types of Problems That Need Intelligent Systems

It is always best to do things the easy way. If you can solve your problem without an Intelligent System, maybe you should. One key factor in knowing whether you'll need an Intelligent System is how often you think you'll need to update the system before you have it right. If the number is small, then an Intelligent System is probably not right.

For example, imagine implementing intelligence for part of a banking system. Your "intelligence" needs to update account balances as people withdraw money. The solution is pretty simple:

NewBalance = OldBalance - WithdrawalAmount

Something like that (and a bunch of error checking and logging and transaction management), not rocket science. Maybe you'll have a bug. Maybe you'll miss an error case (for example, if the balance goes negative). Then you might need to update the "intelligence" to get it right. Maybe a couple times? Or maybe you're super sloppy and you need to update it a dozen times before you're done.

CHAPTER 2 KNOWING WHEN TO USE INTELLIGENT SYSTEMS

Intelligent Systems are not for problems like this. They are for problems where you think you're going to have to update the system much, much more. Thousands of times, tens of thousands of times, every hour for as long as the system exists. That kind of thing.

There are four situations that clearly require that level of iteration:

- Big problems, that require a lot of work to solve.
- Open-ended problems, which continue to grow over time.
- Time-changing problems, where the right answer changes over time.
- Intrinsically hard problems, which push the boundaries of what we think is possible.

The rest of this section will explore these each in turn.

Big Problems

Some problems are big. They have so many variables and conditions that need to be addressed that they can't really be completed in a single shot.

For example, there are more web pages than a single person could read in their lifetime—more than a hundred people could read. There are so many books, television programs, songs, video games, live event streams, tweets, news stories, and e-commerce products that it would take thousands of person-years just to experience them all.

These problems and others like them require massive scale. If you wanted to build a system to reason about one of these, and wanted to completely finish it before deploying a first version... Well, you'd probably go broke trying.

When you have a big problem that you don't think you can finish in one go, an Intelligent System might be a great way to get started, and an efficient way to make progress on achieving your vision, by giving users something they find valuable and something they are willing to help you improve.

Open-Ended Problems

Some problems are more than big. Some problems are open-ended. That is, they don't have a single fixed solution at all. They go on and on, requiring more work, without end. Web pages, books, television programs, songs, video games, live event streams—more and more of them are being created every day.

Trying to build a system to reason about and organize things that haven't even been created yet is hard.

In these cases, a static solution—one where you build it, deploy it, and walk away—is unlikely to work. Instead, these situations require services that live over long periods of time and grow throughout their lifetimes.

If your problem has a bounded solution, an Intelligent System might not be right. But if your problem is big and on-going, an Intelligent System might be the right solution.

Time-Changing Problems

Things change. Sometimes the right answer today is wrong tomorrow. For example:

- Imagine a system for identifying human faces—and then facial tattoos become super popular.
- Imagine a system for predicting stock prices—and then an airplane crashes into a building.
- Imagine a system for moving spam email to a junk folder—and then a new genius-savant decides to get in the spam business and changes the game.
- Or Imagine a UX that users struggle to use—and then they begin to learn how to work with it.

One thing's for certain—things are going to change.

Change means that the intelligence you implemented yesterday—which was totally right for what was happening, which was making a lot of users happy, maybe even making your business a lot of money—might be totally wrong for what is going to happen tomorrow.

Addressing problems that change over time requires the ability to detect that something has changed and to adapt quickly enough to be meaningful.

If your domain changes slowly or in predictable ways, an Intelligent System might not be needed. On the other hand, if change in your domain is unpredictable, drastic, or frequent, an Intelligent System might be the right solution for you.

Intrinsically Hard Problems

Some problems are just hard. So hard that humans can't quite figure out how to solve them. At least not all at once, not perfectly. Here are some examples of hard problems:

- Understanding human speech.
- Identifying objects in pictures.
- Predicting the weather more than a few minutes in the future (apparently).
- Competing with humans in complex, open-ended games.
- Understanding human expressions of emotion in text and video.

In these situations, machine learning has had great success, but this success has come on the back of years (or decades) of effort, gathering training data, understanding the problems, and developing intelligence. These types of systems are still improving and will continue to improve for the foreseeable future.

There are many ways to make progress on such hard problems. One way is to close the loop between users and intelligence creation in a meaningful application using an Intelligent System as described in this book.

Situations When Intelligent Systems Work

In addition to having a problem that is difficult enough to need an Intelligent System—one that is big, open-ended, time-changing, intrinsically hard, or some combination—an Intelligent System needs a few more things to succeed:

- A problem where a partial solution is viable and interesting.
- A way to get data from usage of the system to improve intelligence.
- An ability to influence a meaningful objective.
- A problem that justifies the effort of building an Intelligent System.

The rest of this section explores these requirements in turn.

When a Partial System Is Viable and Interesting

Intelligent Systems are essentially always incomplete, incorrect in important ways, and likely to make all sorts of mistakes. It isn't important that an Intelligent System is perfect. What matters is that an Intelligent System must be good enough to be interesting to users (and valuable to you).

An Intelligent System is viable when the value of the things it does right is (much) higher than the cost of the things it does wrong.

Consider an Intelligent System that makes "cheap" mistakes. Maybe the system is supposed to show a shopping list in an order that optimizes the user's time in the grocery store. Head to the right, pick up eggs, then milk, then loop to the back of the store for the steak, then into the next aisle for pickles... and on and on. If this system gets a few things backwards it might waste time by sending users in the wrong direction, say 15–20 seconds per mistake. Irritating, but not the end of the world. If the mistakes aren't too frequent—say just one every other shopping trip—it's easy to imagine someone using the system while it is learning the layouts of all the grocery stores in the world and adapting to changes.

Consider another Intelligent System, one that makes "expensive" mistakes. Maybe it is controlling surgical robots, and mistakes put human life at risk. This system would have to meet a much higher quality bar before it is viable. That is, you'd need to produce a much better partial system before deploying it to users. But even this system doesn't need to be perfect to be viable. Remember—surgeons make mistakes, too. An Intelligent System doesn't have to be perfect (and most never will be), it just has to be better than the other guy.

The point is that to be viable, an Intelligent System must provide a good deal for users (and for you) by producing more value with positive outcomes than it produces irritation (and cost) with negative outcomes.

When You Can Use Data from the System to Improve

Intelligent Systems work by closing the loop between usage and intelligence. When users use the system, the intelligence gets better; and when the intelligence gets better, the system produces more value for users.

CHAPTER 2 KNOWING WHEN TO USE INTELLIGENT SYSTEMS

To make intelligence better with usage, you need to record the interactions between users and the systems in a careful way (which we will discuss in detail later). At a high level, this involves capturing what the user saw, what they did, and whether the outcome was positive or negative. And you need to observe many, many user interactions (the harder the problem, the more you'll need). This type of data can be used to improve intelligence in many ways, including with machine learning.

When the System Can Interface with the Objective

The Intelligent System must be able to change things that influence the objective. This could be through automating a part of the system, or presenting information or options to a user that help them achieve their goals. Intelligent Systems are most effective when the following conditions are met:

- The actions the Intelligent System can take *directly* affect the objective. When there is a positive outcome, it should be largely because the Intelligent System did well; and when there is a negative outcome, it should be largely because the Intelligent System did poorly. The more external factors that affect the outcome, the harder it is to make an effective Intelligent System.
- The actions the Intelligent System can take *quickly* affect the objective. Because the more time between the action and the outcome, the more chance there is for external factors to interfere.
- The actions the Intelligent System can take are in balance with the objectives. That is, the actions the Intelligent System can take are meaningful enough to the outcome that they are usually measurable.

In practice, figuring out where to put Intelligent Systems and how much of your problem to try to solve with them will be key challenges. Too big an objective and you won't be able to connect the Intelligent System to it; too small and it won't be worth all the work.

In fact, many large, complex systems have space for more than one Intelligent System inside them. For example, an operating system might have an Intelligent System to predict what to put into a RAM cache, one to predict what files to show the user when they search, one to recommend apps to users based on usage, and another to manage the tradeoffs between power and performance when the computer is not plugged in.

You can imagine using a single Intelligent System to manage an entire OS. But it probably wouldn't work, because:

- There are too many things to control.
- The controls are too abstract from the goal.
- The types of feedback the system gets would not relate directly enough to the decisions the Intelligent System needs to make.

When it is Cost Effective

Intelligent Systems have different costs than other approaches to building computer systems and services. There are three main components of cost in most similar systems: The Intelligence, the Implementation, and the Orchestration. We will discuss these concepts in Parts 3, 4, and 5 of this book. But roughly *Intelligence* is the ways the system makes decisions about what is right to do and when, the "logic" of the system; *Implementation* is all the services, back-end systems, and client code that implements the system and interfaces intelligence outcomes with users; and *Orchestration* is the managing of the system throughout its life-cycle, such as making sure it is achieving its objectives, and dealing with mistakes.

The intelligence is usually cheaper in Intelligent Systems than other approaches, for a couple of reasons:

- In general, Intelligent Systems produce the complex logic of a system automatically (instead of using humans). When addressing a big, hard, or open-ended task, Intelligent Systems can lead to substantial savings on intelligence production.
- With the proper intelligent experience, Intelligent Systems produce the training data (which machine learning requires) automatically as users interact with it. Gathering training data can be a major cost driver for intelligence creation, often requiring substantial human effort, and so getting data from users can drastically shift the economics of a problem.

The implementation of an Intelligent System is similar to or a bit more expensive than the implementation other service-based systems (such as a web service or a chat service). Most of the components are similar between an Intelligent System and

CHAPTER 2 KNOWING WHEN TO USE INTELLIGENT SYSTEMS

a nonintelligent system, but Intelligent Systems have additional requirements related to orchestrating them over their lifecycles, including creating intelligence, changing intelligent experiences, managing mistakes, organizing intelligence, and so on. We will discuss all of these in detail later in the book.

The orchestration costs of an Intelligent System are similar but a bit more expensive compared to running a non-intelligent service (like a web service or a chat service). Intelligent Systems require ongoing work, including tuning the way the intelligence is exposed to users, growing the intelligence to be better and deal with new situations, and identifying and mitigating mistakes.

By the time you've finished this book you'll be able to prepare a detailed analysis of the efficiency of using an Intelligent System for your application.

When You Aren't Sure You Need an Intelligent System

Sometimes you have a place where users, data, and intelligence interact, but you aren't sure you need all the elements of an Intelligent System. This might be for any of these reasons:

- You aren't sure your problem is actually hard, so you don't want to build a whole bunch of fancy intelligence you might not need.
- You realize the problem is hard, but aren't sure the extra work of building an Intelligent System will justify the effort for you.
- You want to take an incremental approach and solve problems as you encounter them, rather than stopping to build an Intelligent System.

That's fine. Intelligent Systems (as described in this book) aren't right for everyone—there are plenty of ways to build systems that solve hard problems. But if you do try to solve a big, open-ended, time-changing, or hard problem, you'll eventually run into many of the challenges described in this book. Even if you choose not to build an Intelligent System as described here, this book will arm you to identify common issues quickly, understand what is going on, and will prepare you to respond with proven approaches.

Summary

Intelligent Systems are most useful when solving big, open-ended, time-changing, or intrinsically hard problems. These are problems where a single solution won't work, and where the system needs to improve over time—months or years.

Intelligent Systems work well when:

- A partial solution is interesting to users and will support a viable business, so that you can start simply and grow the system's capability over time.
- You can get data to improve the system from users as they use the system. Data is usually one of the main costs in building intelligence, so crafting a system that produces it automatically is very valuable.
- When the things the system can control affect the objectives: directly, quickly, and meaningfully. That is, the outcomes the system is getting can be tied to things the Intelligent System is doing.
- When other approaches are too expensive to scale.

When looking for places to use Intelligent Systems, break down your problem into pieces. Each piece should have a clear objective that is critical to overall success, feedback that is quick and direct, and controls (or user experiences your system can control) that directly impact the objective. Each such piece is a candidate for an Intelligent System.

And even if you choose not to use an Intelligent System at all, the patterns in this book about practical machine learning, interfacing intelligence with user experience, and more will benefit just about any machine learning endeavor.

For Thought

After reading this chapter, you should know:

- Whether your system could benefit from an Intelligent System.
- How to find potential Intelligent Systems in the world around you.

CHAPTER 2 KNOWING WHEN TO USE INTELLIGENT SYSTEMS

You should be able to answer questions like these:

- What is your favorite hobby that would benefit from an Intelligent System?
- What is an example of a common activity you do every day where an Intelligent System might not be right? Why not?

Consider your favorite piece of software:

- Identify three places the software could use an Intelligent System.
- Which one is the most likely to succeed? Which the least? Why?

A Brief Refresher on Working with Data

Data is central to every Intelligent System. This chapter gives a conceptual overview of working with data, introducing key concepts from data science, statistics, and machine learning. The goal is to establish a baseline of understanding to facilitate discussions and decision making between all participants of an Intelligent System project.

This chapter will cover:

- Structured data.
- Asking questions of data.
- Data models.
- Conceptual machine learning.
- Some common pitfalls of working with data.

Structured Data

Data is changing the world, that's for sure.

But what is it? A bunch of pictures on a disk? All the term papers you wrote in high school? The batting averages of every baseball player who ever played?

Yeah, all of that is data. There is so much data—oceans of numbers, filling hard disk drives all over the planet with ones and zeros. In raw form, data is often referred to as unstructured, and it can be quite difficult to work with.

When we turn data into intelligence, we usually work with data that has some structure to it. That is, data that is broken up into units that describe entities or events.

CHAPTER 3 A BRIEF REFRESHER ON WORKING WITH DATA

For example, imagine working with data about people. Each unit of the data describes a single person by: their weight, their height, their gender, their eye color, that sort of stuff.

One convenient way to think about it is as a table in a spreadsheet (Figure 3-1). There is one row for each person and one column for each property of the person. Maybe the first column of each row contains a number, which is the corresponding person's weight. And maybe the third column of each row contains a number, which is the person's height. On and on.

Weight	Gender	Height (Inches)	Eye Color	•••
170	Male	70	Hazel	•••
140	Female	60	Brown	
60	Male	50	Blue	
•••			•••	•••

Figure 3-1. An example of structured data

The columns will usually contain numbers (like height and weight), or be chosen from a small number of categories (like brown or blue for eye color), or be short text strings like names. There are more advanced options, of course, but this simple scheme is quite powerful and can be used to represent all sorts of things (and unlock our ability to do statistics and machine learning on them).

For example:

 You can represent a web page by: the number of words it contains, the number of images it has in it, the number of links it contains, and the number of times it contains each of 1,000 common keywords.

Working with Data Models

Models capture the answers from data, converting them into *more convenient* or *more useful* formats.

Technically, the projection we discussed previously was a model. Recall that the data set on call center volumes was converted into an average weekly volume of 75 with a 95% confidence interval of 40 - 110. The raw data might have been huge. It might have contained ten terabytes of telemetry going back a decade. But the model contained just four numbers: 75, 95%, 40, and 110.

And this simple model was more useful for making decisions about capacity planning, because it contained exactly the relevant information, and captured it in an intuitive way for the task at hand.

Models can also *fill in gaps in data* and estimate answers to questions that the data doesn't contain.

Consider the data set of people and their heights and weights. Imagine the data set contains a person who is 5'8" and a person who is 5'10", but no one who is 5'9".

What if you need to predict how much a 5'9" person will weigh?

Well, you could build a simple model. Looking into the data, you might notice that the people in the data set tend to weigh about 2.5 pounds per inch of height. Using that model, a 5'9" person would weigh 172.5 pounds. Great. Or is it?

One common way to evaluate the quality of models is called *generalization error*. This is done by reserving a part of the data set, hiding it from the person doing the modeling, and then testing the model on the holdout data to see how well the model does—how well it generalizes to data it has not seen.

For example, maybe there really was a 5'9" person in the data set, but someone hid them from the modeling process. Maybe the hidden 5'9"er weighed 150 pounds. But the model had predicted 172.5 pounds. That's 22.5 pounds off.

Good? Bad? Depends on what you need the model for.

If you sum up these types of errors over dozens or hundreds of people who were held out from the modeling process, you can get some sense of how good the model is. There are lots of technical ways to sum up errors and communicate the quality of a model, two important ones are:

 Regression Errors are the difference between a numeric value and the predicted value, as in the weight example. In the previous example, the model's regression error was 22.5. Classification Errors are for models that predict categories, for example one that tries to predict if a person is a male or female based on height and weight (and, yeah, I agree that model wouldn't have many friends). One way to measure classification errors involves accuracy: the model is 85% accurate at telling males from females.

Conceptual Machine Learning

Simple models can be useful. The weight-at-height model is very simple, and it's easy to find flaws with it. For example, it doesn't take gender into account, or body fat percent, or waist circumference, or where the person is from. Statistics are useful for making projections. Create a simple model, use it to answer questions. But models can be complex too—very, very, very complex.

Machine learning uses computers to improve the process of producing (complex) models from data. And these models can make projections from the data, sometimes surprisingly accurate—and sometimes surprisingly inaccurate.

A machine-learning algorithm explores the data to determine the best way to combine the information contained in the representation (the columns in the data set) into a model that generalizes accurately to data you haven't already seen.

For example, a machine-learning algorithm might predict any of the following:

- Gender by combining height, weight, age, and name.
- Weight using gender, height, age, and name.
- Height from the gender and weight.
- And so on...

And the way the model works can be very complicated, multiplying and scaling the various inputs in ways that make no sense to humans but produce accurate results.

There are probably thousands of machine-learning algorithms that can produce models of data. Some are fast; others run for days or weeks before producing a model. Some produce very simple models; some produce models that take megabytes or gigabytes of disk space. Some produce models that can make predictions very quickly on new data, a millisecond or less; some produce models that are computationally intensive to execute. And some do well on certain types of data, but fail at other types of problems.

There doesn't seem to be one universally best machine-learning algorithm to use for all situations—most work well in some situations, but poorly in others. Every few years a new technique emerges that does surprisingly well at solving important problems, and gets a lot of attention.

And some machine-learning people really like the algorithm they are most familiar with and will fight to the death to defend it despite any evidence to the contrary. You have been warned.

The machine-learning process generally breaks down into the following phases, all of which are difficult and require considerable effort from experts:

- Getting the data to model. This involves dealing with noise, and figuring out exactly what will be predicted and how to get the training examples for the modeling algorithm.
- Feature engineering. This involves processing the data into a data set with the right representation (columns in the spreadsheet) to expose to machine learning algorithms.
- The modeling. This involves running one or more machine-learning algorithms on the data set, looking at the mistakes they make, tweaking and tuning things, and repeating until the model is accurate enough.
- The deployment. This involves choosing which model to run, how to connect it into the system to create positive impact and minimal damage from mistakes.
- The maintenance. This involves monitoring that the model is behaving as expected, and fixing it if it starts to go out of control. For example, by rerunning the training algorithm on new data.

This book is about how to do these steps for large, complex systems.

Common Pitfalls of Working with Data

Data can be complicated, and there are a lot of things that can go wrong. Here are a few common pitfalls to keep in mind when working with data intensive systems, like Intelligent Systems.

Confidence intervals can be broken. Confidence intervals are very useful. Knowing that something is 95% likely to be between two values is great. But a 95% chance of being within an interval means there is a 5% chance of being outside the interval, too. And if it's out, it can be way out. What does that mean? 5% is one in twenty. So if you are estimating something weekly, for example to adjust capacity of a call center, one out of every twenty weeks will be out of interval—that's 2.6 times per year that you'll have too much capacity or not enough. 5% sounds small, like something that might never happen, but keep in mind that even low probability outcomes will happen eventually, if you push your luck long enough.

There is noise in your data. Noise is another word for errors. Like maybe there is a person in the dataset who has a height of 1", or 15'7". Is this real? Probably not. Where does the noise come from? All sorts of places. For example, software has bugs; data has bugs too. Telemetry systems log incorrect values. Data gets corrupted while being processed. The code that implements statistical queries has mistakes. Users turn off their computers at odd times, resulting in odd client states and crazy telemetry. Sometimes when a client has an error, it won't generate a data element. Sometimes it will generate a partial one. Sometimes this noise is caused by computers behaving in ways they shouldn't. Sometimes it is caused by miscommunication between people. Every large data set will have noise, which will inject some error into the things created from the data.

Your data has bias. Bias happens when data is collected in ways that are systematically different from the way the data is used. For example, maybe the people dataset we used to estimate height was created by interviewing random people on the streets of New York. Would a model of this data be accurate for estimating the heights of people in Japan? In Guatemala? In Timbuktu?

Bias can make data less useful and bias can come from all sorts of innocent places, like simple oversights about where the data is collected, or the context of when the data was collected. For example, users who "sorta-liked" something are less likely to respond to a survey than users who loved it or who hated it. Make sure data is being used to do the thing it was meant to do, or make sure you spend time to understand the implications of the bias your data has.

Your data is out of date. Most (simple) statistical and machine learning techniques have a big underlying assumption—that is, that things don't change. But things do change. Imagine building a model of support call volume, then using it to try to estimate support call volume for the week after a major new feature is released. Or the week

after a major storm. One of the main reasons to implement all the parts of an Intelligent System is to make the system robust to change.

You want the data to say things it doesn't. Sometimes data is inconclusive, but people like to have answers. It's human nature. People might downplay the degree of uncertainty by saying things like "the answer is 42" instead of saying "we can't answer that question" or "the answer is between 12 and 72." It makes people feel smarter to be precise. It can almost seem more polite to give people answers they can work with (instead of giving them a long, partial answer). It is fun to find stories in the data, like "our best product is the toothpaste, because we redid the display-case last month." These stories are so seductive that people will find them even where they don't exist.

Tip When working with data, always ask a few questions: Is this right? How sure are we? Is there another interpretation? How can we know which is correct?

Your models of data will make mistakes. Intelligent Systems, especially ones built by modeling data, are wrong. A lot. Sometimes these mistakes make sense. But sometimes they are totally counter-intuitive gibberish. And sometimes it is very hard to fix one mistake without introducing new ones. But this is fine. Don't be afraid of mistakes. Just keep in mind: any system based on models is going to need a plan for dealing with mistakes.

Summary

Data is changing the world. Data is most useful when it is structured in a way that lines up with what it needs to be used for. Structured data is like a spreadsheet, with one row per thing (person, event, web page, and so on), and one column per property of that thing (height, weight, gender).

Data can be used to answer questions and make projections. Statistics can answer simple questions and give you guidance on how accurate the answer is. Machine learning can create very complicated models to make very sophisticated projections. Machine learning has many, many useful tools that can help make accurate models of data. More are being developed all the time.

And data can be misused badly—you have to be careful.

Criteria for a Good Goal

A successful goal will do all of the following:

- Clearly communicate the desired outcome to all participants.
 Everyone should be able to understand what success looks like and why it is important, no matter what their background or technical experience.
- 2. **Be achievable**. Everyone on the team should believe they are set up to succeed. The goal can be difficult, but team members should be able to explain roughly how they are going to approach success and why there is a good chance it will work.
- 3. **Be measurable**. Intelligent Systems are about optimizing, and so Intelligent Systems are about measuring. Because if you can't measure something you really aren't going to be able to optimize it.

It isn't easy to know if a goal is correct. In fact, bridging the gap between high-level objectives and detailed properties of the implementation is often the key challenge to creating a successful Intelligent System. Some goals will seem perfect to some participants but make no sense to others. Some will clearly align with positive impact but be impossible to measure or achieve. There will always be trade-offs, and it is common to spend a great deal of time refining the definition of success.

But that's OK. It's absolutely worth the effort because failing to define success before starting a project is the easiest, most certain way to waste time and money.

An Example of Why Choosing Goals Is Hard

Consider an anti-phishing feature backed by an Intelligent System.

One form of phishing involves web sites that look like legitimate banking sites but are actually fake sites, controlled by abusers. Users are lured to these phishing sites and tricked into giving their banking passwords to criminals. Not good.

So what should an Intelligent System do?

Talk to a machine-learning person and it won't take long to get them excited. They'll quickly see how to build a model that examines web pages and predicts whether they are phishing sites or not. These models will consider things like the text and images on the

web pages to make their predictions. If the model thinks a page is a phish, block it. If a page is blocked, a user won't browse to it, won't type their banking password into it. No more problem. Easy. Everyone knows what to do.

So the number of blocks seems like a great thing to measure—block more sites and the system is doing a better job.

Or is it?

What if the system is so effective that phishers quit? Every single phisher in the world gives up and finds something better to do with their time?

Perfect!

But then there wouldn't be any more phishing sites and the number of blocks would drop to zero. The system has achieved total success, but the metric indicates total failure.

Not great.

Or what if the system blocks one million phishing sites per day, every day, but the phishers just don't care? Every time the system blocks a site, the phishers simply make another site. The Intelligent System is blocking millions of things, everyone on the team is happy, and everyone feels like they are helping people—but the same number of users are losing their credentials to abusers after the system was built as were losing their credentials before it was built.

Not great.

One pitfall with defining success in an Intelligent System is that there are so many things that can be measured and optimized. It's very easy to find something that is familiar to work with, choose it as an objective, and get distracted from true success.

Recall the three properties of a good success criterion:

- 1. Communicate the desired outcome
- 2. Be achievable
- 3. Be measurable

Using the number of blocked phishing pages as a success metric hits #2 and #3 out of the park, but fails on #1.

The desired outcome of this system isn't to block phishing sites—it is to stop abusers from getting users' banking passwords.

Types of Goals

There are many types of things a system can try to optimize, ranging from very concrete to very abstract.

A system's true objective tends to be very abstract (like making money next quarter), but the things it can directly affect tend to be very concrete (like deciding whether a toaster should run for 45 or 55 seconds). Finding a clear connection between the abstract and concrete is a key source of tension in setting effective goals. And it is really, really hard.

One reason it is hard is that different participants will care about different types of goals. For example:

- Some participants will care about making money and attracting and engaging customers.
- Some participants will care about helping users achieve what they are trying to do.
- Some participants will care that the intelligence of the system is accurate.

These are all important goals, and they are related, but the connection between them is indirect. For example, you won't make much money if the system is always doing the wrong thing; but making the intelligence 1% better will not translate into 1% more profit.

This section discusses different ways to consider the success of an Intelligent System, including:

- Organizational objectives
- Leading indicators
- User outcomes
- Model properties

Most Intelligent Systems use several of these on a regular basis but focus primarily on user outcomes and model properties for day-to-day optimization.

Organizational Objectives

Organizational objectives are the real reason for the Intelligent System. In a business these might be things like revenue, profit, or number of units sold. In a nonprofit organization these might be trees saved, lives improved, or other benefits to society. 38

Organizational objectives are clearly important to optimize. But they are problematic as direct objectives for Intelligent Systems for at least three reasons:

- 1. They are very distant from what the technology can affect. For example, a person working on an Internet toaster can change the amount of time a cold piece of bread is toasted—how does that relate to number of units sold?
- 2. They are affected by many things out of the system's control. For example, market conditions, marketing strategies, competitive forces, changes to user behavior over time, and so on.
- 3. They are very slow indicators. It may take weeks or months to know if any particular action has impacted an organizational objective. This makes them difficult to optimize directly.

Every Intelligent System should contribute to an organizational objective, but the day-to-day orchestration of an Intelligent System will usually focus on more direct measures—like the ones we'll discuss in the next few sections (particularly user outcomes and model properties).

Leading Indicators

Leading indicators are measures that correlate with future success. For example:

- You are more likely to make a profit when your customers like your product than when they hate it.
- You are more likely to grow your customer base when your customers are recommending your product to their friends than when your customers are telling their friends to stay away.
- You are more likely to retain customers when they use your product every day than when they use your product once every couple of months.

Leading indicators are a way to bridge between organizational objectives and the more concrete properties of an Intelligent System (like user outcomes and model properties). If an Intelligent System gets better, customers will probably like it more. That may lead to more sales or it might not, because other factors—like competitors,

CHAPTER 4 DEFINING THE INTELLIGENT SYSTEM'S GOALS

marketing activities, trends, and so on—can affect sales. Leading indicators factor some of these external forces out and can help you get quicker feedback as you change your Intelligent System.

There are two main types of leading indicators: customer sentiment and customer engagement.

Customer sentiment is a measure of how your customers feel about your product. Do they like using it? Does it make them happy? Would they recommend it to a friend (or would they rather recommend it to an enemy)?

If everyone who uses your product loves it, it is a sign that you are on the right track. Keep going, keep expanding your user base, and eventually you will have business success (make revenue, sell a lot of units, and so on).

On the other hand, if everyone who uses your product hates it you might be in for some trouble. You might have some customers, they might use your product, but they aren't happy with it. They are looking for a way out. If you get a strong competitor your customers are ready to jump ship.

Sentiment is a fuzzy measure, because users' feelings can be fickle. It can also be very hard to measure sentiment accurately—users don't always want to tell you exactly what you ask them to tell you. Still, swings in sentiment can be useful indicators of future business outcomes, and Intelligent Systems can certainly affect the sentiment of users who encounter them.

Customer engagement is a measure of how much your customers use your product. This could mean the frequency of usage. It could also mean the depth of usage, as in using all the various features your product has to offer.

Customers with high engagement are demonstrating that they find value in your product. They've made a habit of your product, and they come back again and again. They will be valuable to you and your business over time.

Customers with low engagement use the product infrequently. These customers may be getting value from your offering, but they have other things on their minds. They might drift away and never think about you or your product again.

Leading indicators have some disadvantages as goals for Intelligent Systems, similar to those that organizational outcomes suffer from:

- They are indirect.
- They are affected by factors out of control of the Intelligent System.
- They aren't good at detecting small changes.

minor that no one cares. Or maybe there is a really good way for the user to give feedback, which quickly corrects the mistake way more cheaply than investing in optimizing the last few points of the model's performance.

3. They are too familiar to machine-learning people. It is easy to build Intelligent Systems to optimize model properties—it is precisely what machine-learning people spend their lives doing, so it will naturally come up in any conversation about objectives. Be careful with them. They are so powerful and familiar that they may stifle and hijack the system's actual objective.

Optimizing model properties is what intelligence is about, but it is seldom the goal. A good goal will show how improving model properties contributes to having the desired impact on users and the business. A good goal will give guidance on how much model property optimization is worth.

Layering Goals

Success in an Intelligent System project is hard to define with a single metric, and the metrics that define it are often hard to measure. One good practice is to define success on different levels of abstraction and have some story about how success at one layer contributes to the others. This doesn't have to be a precise technical endeavor, like a mathematical equation, but it should be an honest attempt at telling a story that all participants can get behind.

For example, participants in an Intelligent System might:

- On an hourly or daily basis optimize model properties.
- On a weekly basis review the user outcomes and make sure changes in model properties are affecting user outcomes as expected.
- On a monthly basis review the leading indicators and make sure nothing has gone off the rails.
- On a quarterly basis look at the organizational objectives and make sure the Intelligent System is moving in the right direction to affect them.

CHAPTER 4 DEFINING THE INTELLIGENT SYSTEM'S GOALS

Revisit the goals of the Intelligent System often during the course of the project. Because things change.

Ways to Measure Goals

One reason defining success is so hard is that measuring success is harder still.

How the heck are we supposed to know how many passwords abusers got with their phishing pages?

When we discuss intelligent experiences in Part II of this book we will discuss ways to design intelligent experiences to help measure goals and get data to make the intelligence better. This section introduces some basic approaches. Using techniques like these should allow more flexibility in defining success.

Waiting for More Information

Sometimes it is impossible to tell if an action is right or wrong at the time it happens, but a few hours or days or weeks later it becomes much easier. As time passes you'll usually have more information to interpret the interaction. Here are some examples of how waiting might help:

- The system recommends content to the user, and the user consumes it completely—by waiting to see if the user consumes the content, you can get some evidence of whether the recommendation was good or bad.
- The system allows a user to type their password into a web page—by
 waiting to see if the user logs in from eastern Europe and tries to get
 all their friends to install malware, you can get some evidence if the
 password was stolen or not.

Waiting can be a very cheap and effective way to make a success criterion easier to measure, particularly when the user's behavior implicitly indicates success or failure.

There are a couple of downsides.

First, waiting adds latency. This means that waiting might not help with optimizing, or making fine-grained measurements.

Second, waiting adds uncertainty. There are lots of reasons a user might change their behavior. Waiting gives more time for other factors to affect the measurement.

PART II

Intelligent Experiences

Chapters 5-10 explain how to connect intelligence with users to achieve an Intelligent System's objectives. This part discusses the pitfalls and challenges of creating user experiences based on models and machine learning, along with the properties of a successful intelligent experience. It explains how to adapt experiences to get data to grow the system. And it gives a framework for verifying that an intelligent experience is behaving as intended.